PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, State Attorney' s Office of the 17th

Circuit was an intervenor in the in the Circuit Court of the

Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida,

and the Appellant before the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Appellees Cable News Network and other media outlets were

petitioners or intervenors in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth

Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida. In the brief,

the parties will be referred to as they appear before this

Honorable Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In the case before the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the

Court affirmed the Order of the Circuit Court directing the

disclosure of video footage as public records over the objection of

the Petitioner, that the video footage constituted active criminal

investigative information and was exempt from disclosure under the

Public Records Act, and over the objections of the Broward County

School Board, based on the security plan exemption to the Public

Records Act. The videos involved were excerpts of exterior video

surveillance of the 1200 Building at Marjory Stoneman Douglas High

School recorded contemporaneous to the time immediately before,

during and after the horrific mass killing occurring on February

14, 2018. These videos were obtained by law enforcement pursuant to
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a validly obtained and legally executed search warrant for evidence

regarding the incident. The suspect was apprehended the same day of

the shootings. The grand jury in Broward County indicted the

criminal defendant, Nikolas Cruz, on 17 counts of murder in the

first degree, and 17 counts of attempted murder in the first

degree. He is currently being prosecuted by the Office of the

State Attorney, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward

County, Florida, Petitioner herein. It is significant to note that

the defendant has only asked for limited discovery, specifically

omitting from his discovery demand any images, photographs, and

video recordings depicting the victims and the shooting itself.

In its July 25, 2018 ruling, the Fourth District Court of

Appeal held that the active criminal investigative information

exemption did not apply to the video surveillance footage, the

Court noted that the video surveillance/records "were not compiled

by a criminal justice agency in the course of conducting a criminal

investigation" (opinion at page 9). Additionally, the Court applied

the "tipsy coachman" doctrine, based on the fact that the Circuit

Court did not use the same reasoning in its opinion (opinion at

page 9) . Additionally, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed

the Order of the Circuit Court, rejecting the exemption claimed by

the School Board of Broward County, finding that the "good cause"

exception to the exemption applied. Petitioner filed a motion to

recall the mandate on July 26, 2018, which was denied on the same
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date. A motion to certify question of great public importance

requested by the School Board was also denied by the Fourth

District Court of Appeal on August 3, 2018. Petitioner filed a

notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on July 27, 2018. Stays

of proceeding were granted by this Honorable Court on July 30, 2018

and August 8, 2018, the latter of which stayed proceedings pending

litigation of the jurisdictional briefs.

ARGUMENT

A. THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

DIRECTLY ADDRESSES THE VALIDITY OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 23 OF

THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND SECTIONS 119.011 AND

119 . 071 (2) ( c) 1 , FLORIDA STATUTES AND INCORRECTLY INTERPRETS

FLORIDA LAW

The opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is within

the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court pursuant to Florida

Constitution Article V, section 3 and Florida Rule of Appellate

Procedure 9.030(a) (2) (A) (ii), as the opinion directly addresses the

validity of Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution and

Florida Statutes Sections 119.011 and 119.071(2) (c)1 pertaining to

public records.

Criminal investigative information is information with

respect to an identifiable person or group of persons compiled by a

criminal justice agency in the course of conducting a criminal
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investigation of a specific act or omission, including, but not

limited to, information derived from laboratory tests, reports of

investigators or informants, or any type of surveillance. F.S. §

119.011(3) (b). Such information is active as long as it is related

to an ongoing investigation which is continuing with a reasonable,

good faith anticipation of securing an arrest or prosecution in the

foreseeable future, and extends to pending prosecutions or appeals.

F.S. § 119.011(3) (d). Although the opinion quotes the above

definition, it totally misinterprets and ignores the application of

that statute within the framework of the facts in this matter.

Specifically, the decision ignores the undisputed fact that the

video surveillance in question was obtained pursuant to a validly

obtained and legally executed search warrant. The surveillance

video was obtained as part of the investigation into the shootings

by a criminal justice agency. Evidence regarding the shooting was

being compiled by the criminal justice agencies as they actively

investigated the case. As such the surveillance video at issue

constituted active criminal investigative information compiled by a

criminal justice agency and meets the criteria of the exemption

claimed by Petitioner. The decision of the Court ignores that a

criminal justice agency may compile records and evidence in

preparation for purposes of criminal prosecution. The decision

opens the floodgates to the release of additional surveillance

videos, not requested in discovery, based on the reasoning that the
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videos were not compiled by a criminal justice agency and thus do

not constitute active criminal investigative information. The

defendant has only asked for limited discovery, specifically

omitting from his discovery demand any images, photographs, and

video recordings depicting the victims and the shooting itself. The

decision exposes the graphic videos of the shooting and slaughter

of innocent children during the massacre at Marjory Stoneman

Douglas High School on February 14, 2018 to public disclosure under

Chapter 119, where that evidence has not been demanded in discovery

for obvious strategic reasons, including sensitivity to the victims

and their families. The opinion directly impacts and addresses the

validity of Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution and

Florida Statutes Sections 119.011 and 119.071(2)(c)1 pertaining to

public records.

B. THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AFFECTS

A CLASS OF CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS , SPECIFICALLY THE STATE

ATTORNEY, AS FOUND IN ARTICLE V, SECTION 17, FLORIDA

CONSTITUTION; CHAPTER 27, FLORIDA STATUTES AND VIOLATES FLORIDA

CONSTITUTION ARTICLE II, SECTION 3, SEPERATION OF POWERS

The opinion expressly affects a class of constitutional

officers, pursuant to Florida Constitution Article V, section 3 and

Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a) (2) (A) (iii),

specifically the State Attorney as defined in Article V, section 17
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of the Florida Constitution, pursuant to Florida Constitution,

Article II, section 3 as a violation of the separation of powers;

Florida Statutes chapter 27 and the exclusive powers of the State

Attorney as to whether and how to prosecute cases; and Florida

Statutes § 119.011(3)(c)5; § 119.071(2)(c)1.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal relied on Tribune Company

v. Cannella, 438 So.2d 516 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) quashed on other

grounds, 458 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1984) and advisory opinions of the

Attorney General' s Office in applying the "tipsy coachman"

analysis, finding that the surveillance video was information

compiled by one agency, and transferred to a criminal justice

agency. The term "compiled by a criminal justice agency" in the

op1nlon is misapplied, and completely misinterprets the words

"compiled by" in the Public Records Act. The facts herein are

distinguishable from Cannella because the evidence at issue is

directly related to the investigation of the shooting at Marjory

Stoneman Douglas High School in that it is a recording of

activities occurring at the time of the crime itself. Additionally,

this case differs from Cannella, because the personnel record

sought in Cannella existed in advance of the investigation, while

the video recordings at issue in this matter were contemporaneous

to the crime as it was taking place. Based on the facts of this

case, the School Board did not simply transfer the information to

the State Attorney or to law enforcement, but surrendered the video
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surveillance pursuant to a legally executed search warrant.

It has long been held that the State Attorney has the

executive function in deciding whether and how to prosecute a case.

State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986); State v. Cain, 381 So.2d

1361 (Fla. 1980). Article I, section 24(a) of the Florida

Constitution allows every person the right to inspect or copy any

record, with the exception of those records which are subject to

exemption. Despite the fact that there is an active criminal

investigation of the criminal acts committed by the criminal

defendant, by applying Cannella to the case at bar, the Fourth

District Court of Appeal stripped the active criminal investigative

information exemption, and the ability of the State Attorney to

exercise the exemption for information that a criminal justice

agency has compiled during the course of its own criminal

investigation. The opinion interferes with the function of the

State Attorney, its ability to conduct investigations and pursue

prosecution because now information can be and will be prematurely

released, simply because the crime was committed on the property of

a public agency, and recorded on equipment owned by that public

agency. Exacerbating the effect of the opinion is the fact that the

criminal defendant has not requested the videos at issue in

discovery in the underlying criminal matter.
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C. THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INTERFERES WITH AND MISAPPLIES THE STATUTORY EXEMPTION TO

MAINTAIN THE SAFETY AND SECURITY OF PUBLIC BUILDINGS,

ARTICLE I SECTION 24, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Finally, the decision is within the jurisdiction of the

Supreme Court pursuant to Florida Constitution Article V, section 3

and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a) (2) (A) (ii), as the

opinion obviates the statutory exemption in place to maintain

safety and security of public buildings, as noted in Article I,

section 24 of the Florida Constitution, and Florida Statutes §

119. 011, 119. 071 ( 3) ( a) , and 281. 301 (1) . Even if this Court were to

agree with the Fourth District Court of Appeal that the criminal

investigative information exemption would not apply, any public

records request would still be exempt under the security

surveillance exemption, as noted by the School Board of Broward

County. Although the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that the

exemption was established, the majority opinion found that the good

cause exception existed. In a dissent, Judge Conner found that

there was insufficient substantial competent evidence to support

the conclusion that release of the videos would minimally reveal

information relating to the security system. For the reasons cited

in the dissent by Judge Conner, jurisdiction should be accepted.
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CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons and authorities, Petitioner