PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Petitioner asserts this Court should review the decision of the Fourth District 

Court of Appeal because it “directly addresses” constitutional and statutory 

provisions. No such basis for jurisdiction exists. Review should therefore be 

denied: the decision does not “expressly construe” a constitutional provision, nor 

does it “expressly declare” a state statute valid.  The decision also does not 

“expressly affect” a class of constitutional or state officers because it simply 

applies the relevant provisions Florida’s Public Records Act to the unique and 

well-developed facts and evidence below.  The petition should be dismissed.   

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

  On February 26, 2018, Respondent News Media Parties1 filed a petition for 

access to video surveillance from the exterior cameras of Marjory Stoneman 

Douglas High School in an effort to gain clarity about the law enforcement 

response to the tragic shooting on February 14, 2018.  The petition named the 

Broward County Sheriff’s Office (“BSO”), Scott Israel in his official capacity as 

Broward County Sheriff, the School Board of Broward County (“School Board”), 

                                           
1  The Respondents/Appellees and petitioners in the trial court are as 

follows:  ABC, Inc.; The Associated Press; The Bradenton Herald; Cable News 

Network, Inc.; the First Amendment Foundation; the Florida Press Association; 

Gannett Co., Inc.; Los Angeles Times Communications LLC; Miami Herald Media 

Company; The New York Times Company; Orlando Sentinel Communications 

Company, LLC; and Sun-Sentinel Company, LLC. 
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and Robert W. Runcie, in his official capacity as Superintendent of Schools, 

Broward County. Petitioner State Attorney’s Office (“SAO” or “Petitioner”) 

intervened and opposed access.  It argued that these videos, which it subpoenaed 

from the School Board, were “criminal investigative information” and thus exempt 

from disclosure under the Public Records Act. 

The News Media Parties did not seek -- and have never sought -- videos that 

depicted any victims of the shooting, witnesses, or any students.  Instead, the News 

Media Parties focused on obtaining video footage depicting only the law 

enforcement response, and initially on the well-publicized and known footage of 

BSO Deputy Scot Peterson outside Building 12 (where the shooting occurred).   

After conducting an evidentiary hearing and an in camera review, the trial 

court ordered release of video footage showing Peterson, which had been “redacted 

to obscure the faces of students and unknown witnesses.”  State Attorney’s Office 

of the 17th Judicial Circuit v. Cable News Network, Inc., Nos. 4D18-1335, 4D18-

1336, 2018 WL 3569397, at *2 (Fla. 4th DCA July 25, 2018). No party appealed 

that order, and the video was released.   Id. 

In the weeks following the shooting, law enforcement agencies continued to 

disclose additional written information concerning their response to the shooting, 

and more facts came to light.  As a result, the News Media Parties sought release 

of additional video, which expressly did not include video (a) depicting victims of 
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the shooting; (b) the interior of any school building; (c) specifically identifying any 

student; or (d) depicting Nikolas Cruz.  Id. at *3.  The trial court, without objection 

by the News Media Parties, additionally narrowed the time period of the video 

sought to a 45-minute period (2:15 to 3 p.m.) and the number of cameras (5-6 

showing law enforcement actions).  Id.  After an in camera review of this limited 

and redacted exterior video, the trial court ordered its release. 

Petitioner SAO and the School Board appealed. After full briefing, oral 

argument and in camera review of the video footage (filed under seal), the Fourth 

District on July 25, 2018 issued its decision affirming the trial court’s order.  In its 

decision, the Fourth District rejected the SAO’s argument that the video at issue 

was exempt from disclosure as “active criminal investigative information.”   The 

SAO timely filed its notice to invoke the discretionary review of this Court.2       

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 Petitioner seeks to invoke discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to three clauses 

of Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and the rules of appellate procedure, all of which 

fail.  First, the Petitioner argues that the Fourth District’s decision “directly 

addresses” the validity of Art. I, § 23 of the Florida Constitution and Fla. Stat. §§ 

119.011 and 119.071(2)(c)1. These arguments are meritless.  First, there is no 

jurisdiction where a decision “directly addresses” any subject.  Second, the 

                                           
2  The School Board also has filed a notice to invoke jurisdiction under 

Case No. SC18-1280.   
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decision does not in any way make reference to Art. I, § 23; nor does it expressly 

construe any provision of the state constitution.  Third, the decision similarly does 

not “expressly declare” a state statute to be valid.  And finally, the decision does 

not expressly affect a class of constitutional or state officers, as asserted.  

Accordingly, this Court should deny review of the Fourth District’s decision. 

ARGUMENT 

 Petitioner seeks to invoke this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. 

P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i), (ii), and (iii), but this rule does not provide any basis for 

review here. As a threshold matter, Petitioner asserts that the Fourth District 

decision “directly addresses” various constitutional and statutory provisions.  But a 

decision “addressing” -- even directly -- any topic does not invoke the 

discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.  In this regard, Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. 

permits this Court to review “any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that 

expressly declares valid a state statute, or that expressly construes a provision of 

the state or federal constitution.” Id. (emphasis added).   Discretionary jurisdiction 

applies only to a “narrow” class of cases. Wells v. State, 132 So. 3d 1110, 1112 

(Fla. 2014) (citations omitted).  Those narrow categories do not include 

Petitioner’s characterization of the Fourth District’s opinion.  Accordingly, 

Petitioner should not be granted review simply because it disagrees with the 

decision. 
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I. The Fourth District’s Decision Does Not Construe Article I, § 23 or 

Declare Valid Any Florida Statute.  

 

In Section A of its brief, Petitioner argues that the Fourth District’s decision 

should be reviewed because it “directly addresses” Art. I, § 23, Fla. Const. and 

Sections 119.011 and 119.071(2)(c), Fla. Stat.  See Pet. Br. at 3, 5.  Even assuming, 

for arguments sake only, that Petitioner intended to invoke review where an 

appellate court either “expressly construes” a provision of the constitution, or 

“declares valid” a state statute, neither occurred here. 

First, the Fourth District’s opinion significantly contains no discussion of 

Art. I, § 23, which provides that: 

Every natural person has the right to be let alone and free from 

governmental intrusion into the person’s private life except as 

otherwise provided herein.  This section shall not be construed to limit 

the public’s right of access to public records and meetings as 

provided by law. 

 

(emphasis added). The only constitutional provision even mentioned in the opinion 

is Art. I, § 24, which applies to public records and meetings.  State Attorney’s 

Office, 2018 WL 3569397, at *4. The Fourth District’s decision therefore does not 

consider, much less “expressly construe,” Art. I, § 23. The SAO’s misguided 

attempt to imply that the opinion exposes the privacy of the “victims and their 

families” is pure conjecture, particularly where -- as in this case -- the trial court, 

the appellate court, and all of the parties acted with great care to avoid any 
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disclosure of victims. Hence, the redacted video ordered released depicts only law 

enforcement officials.       

 Petitioner’s arguments concerning the Fourth District’s treatment of §§ 

119.011 and 119.071(2)(c), Fla. Stat. are similarly flawed.  An opinion may qualify 

for discretionary jurisdiction under Art. V, § 3(b)(3) only where the district court 

“expressly” ruled upon the validity of the statute.  The word “express” is defined as 

being “made known distinctly and explicitly, and not left to inference or 

implication. Declared in terms; set forth in words.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY 

(2018).    

A decision of a district court, including the Fourth District’s opinion below, 

is not eligible for review under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) if it lacks an explicit finding 

as to the validity of a statute.  No such finding can be found in the Fourth District’s 

decision.  Rather, the Fourth District merely reviewed the applicable provisions of 

Chapter 119 and found that the “criminal investigative information” exemption did 

not apply for various reasons. 

Because Petitioner cannot point to an explicit statement of validity, it instead 

apparently relies upon the defunct “inherency doctrine,” arguing that the Fourth 

District considered and applied the relevant statutory provisions.  But this is the 

type of case this Court no longer reviews.  In 1980, Article V, section 3(b)(3) was 

amended to essentially abolish the inherency doctrine, meaning that this Court will 
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not review a district court’s opinion that “applied the statute as though it were valid 

but did not directly discuss or make a finding of validity.” H. L. Anstead et al., The 

Operation and Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida, 29 NOVA L. REV. 

431, 503 (Spring 2005); Comm. Notes to 1980 Amend., In re Emergency Amend. 

to Rules of App. P., 381 So. 2d 1370, 1374 (Fla. 1980).  That is precisely the case 

here, and Petitioner’s request for review should be denied.  

II.  The Fourth District’s Opinion Does Not Expressly Affect State 

Attorneys as a Class of Constitutional Officers. 

 

Petitioner’s arguments concerning the opinion’s effect on state attorneys 

throughout Florida is likewise flawed.  Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida 

Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iii) provide a basis for 

discretionary jurisdiction where the district court’s opinion “expressly affects a 

class of constitutional or state officers.” See School Bd. of Pinellas Cty. v. Dist. Ct. 

of Appeal, 467 So. 2d 985, 986 (Fla. 1985); see also Spradley v. State, 293 So. 2d 

697, 701 (Fla. 1974) (a decision affecting constitutional officers must do more than 

“simply modify or construe or add to the case law” concerning a particular 

provision).   

 In its brief, the SAO asserts that a statewide class is affected because (a) the 

Fourth District misapplied the holding in Tribune Co. v. Cannella, 438 So. 2d 516, 

521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), quashed on other grounds, 458 So. 2d 1075 (1984), 

concerning the scope of the active criminal investigative exemption to Chapter 119 
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and (b) the decision improperly impedes its discretion concerning how to prosecute 

Cruz.  See Pet. Br. at 5-7.  Neither argument provides a basis for this court to 

accept jurisdiction. 

The Fourth District’s decision in fact does not change the existing 

obligations or rights of the SAO or state attorneys statewide.  The SAO was not 

ordered to disclose the videos.  It was not ordered to stop using the videos as part 

of its prosecution.  It was not prohibited from introducing the videos in evidence at 

trial.  It was not told how or whether to prosecute Nikolas Cruz.  The opinion 

merely concluded that records created by the School Board had to be disclosed, 

and the mere fact that the SAO may be using those records does not eliminate the 

fact that the records belong to the School Board in the first instance.    

 Even less persuasive is the Petitioner’s argument that the decision violates 

separation of powers and its power to determine “whether and how to prosecute 

cases.”  Even a charitable reading of the Fourth District’s opinion does not convey 

such a meaning. The opinion is about public records access and in no way 

implicates, eliminates, or restricts the SAO’s power to subpoena records from 

third-parties or government agencies, including the School Board.  Nor does the 

decision provide a basis to wipe away any and all exemptions applicable to records 

that are created by other public agencies, as the SAO predicts.  In this regard, the 
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Fourth District’s decision lacks any wide-reaching effect on the class of state 

attorneys, and thus this cannot be a basis for jurisdiction. 

III. The Fourth District’s Opinion Does Not Expressly Construe Article I, 

Section 24.  

 

Petitioner claims that the Fourth District’s opinion “expressly construes” 

Article I, section 24 of the Florida Constitution as well as Florida Statutes §§ 

119.011, 119.071(3)(a), and 281.301(1) to essentially eliminate the statutory 

exemption “in place to maintain the safety and security of public buildings.”  Pet. 

Br. at 8.  Assuming the SAO has standing to make such an argument, Art. V, § 

3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(ii) permit discretionary 

jurisdiction where a constitutional provision is expressly construed -- not state 

statutes. 

 For this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction as requested, the 

SAO must show that the decision “explain[s], define[s] or otherwise eliminate[s] 

existing doubt arising from the language or terms of the constitutional provision.”  

Ogle v. Pepin, 273 So. 2d 391, 392 (Fla. 1973) (denying jurisdiction where the 

district court’s opinion did not “discuss” the constitutional provisions); Armstrong 

v. City of Tampa, 106 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 1958) (“it is necessary that the final 

decree under assault actually construe, as distinguished from apply, a controlling 

provision of the Constitution. . . . It is not sufficient merely that the trial judge 

examine into the facts of a particular case and then apply a recognized, clear-cut 
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provision of the Constitution.”), reaffirmed in Ogle, 273 So. 2d at 393; Rojas v. 

State, 288 So. 2d 234, 236 (Fla. 1973) (“Applying is not synonymous with 

Construing; the former is NOT a basis for our jurisdiction”) (emphasis in original). 

Here, the Fourth District did not expressly construe a state constitutional 

provision in any manner whatsoever.   Rather, the court held only that the videos at 

issue were public records subject to disclosure within the meaning of Art. I, § 24, 

Fla. Const. and Chapter 119, Fla. Stat. (2018).  State Attorney’s Office, 2018 WL 

3569397, at *4. In so doing, the opinion made no further reference to that 

particular provision, and instead affirmed the trial court’s discretionary finding that 

good cause existed for disclosure because the videos would allow the public to 

witness and evaluate:  (1) when first responders arrived on campus; (2) where first 

responders went when they arrived; (3) and what first responders did when they 

arrived.  Id. at *8. This Court therefore has no basis to review the Fourth’s decision 

because it does not “expressly construe” a constitutional provision. 

CONCLUSION 

 Petitioner’s jurisdictional brief is nothing more than a disagreement with the 

Fourth District Court of Appeal’s opinion.  Petitioner does not proffer any actual 

basis that would give rise to this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction. This Court 

should decline to invoke its discretionary jurisdiction over this matter.